City of PCB City Hall

. 17007 PCB
Panama City Beach e
PCB, FL. 32413
P: (850) 233-5100
F: (850) 233-5108
www.pcbfl.gov

CITY OF PANAMA CITY BEACH
PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES
May 14, 2025
MINUTES TO THE REGULAR MEETING

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Wakstein at 1:00 p.m. and Ms. Deese was
asked to call the roll. Members present were Mr. Painter, Mr. Thomas, Mr. Coleman, Mr.
Morehouse, Mr. Wittstruck, Mr. Bishop, and Chairman Wakstein. Mr. Morehouse led the
Pledge of Allegiance.

ITEM NO. 3 Approval of April 9, 2025, Planning Board Meeting Minutes

Chairman Wakstein asked if there were any comments or corrections to the meeting
minutes. Mr. Coleman made a motion to approve. It was seconded by Mr. Morehouse.
Ms. Deese called the roll.

Mr. Wittstruck Yes Mr. Coleman Yes Mr. Thomas Yes
Mr. Painter Yes Mr. Morehouse Yes Mr. Bishop Yes
Chairman Wakstein Yes

ITEM NO. 4 Public Comments — Non-Agenda Items

Ed Benjamin, S. Wells Street, referenced a recent complaint made by a resident at a City
Council meeting regarding vehicles, boats, and trailers. He suggested the Board review
what is allowable as front yard items, number of each, and questioned if they should they
be operational and licensed.

ITEM NO. 5 Daniel Voss is requesting authorization of a Variance from Land
Development Code 5.02.07 to allow a structure to be on a side
yard and Table 4.02.02.A to reduce the required 5’ side setback to
a 2’ side setback for a variance of 3’. The property is located at
109 Seaclusion Drive (Parcel: 33830-304-000).

Chairman Wakstein introduced the item and read aloud the proceedings for a quasi-
judicial hearing. All participants identified as affected parties were sworn in for testimony.
Ms. Chester acknowledged that all the requirements of the application notices were
satisfied. Ms. Deese was asked to call Jennings Act.

Mr. Wittstruck had nothing to disclose. Mr. Coleman had nothing to disclose.
Mr. Thomas had nothing to disclose. Mr. Painter had nothing to disclose.

Mr. Morehouse visited the property. Mr. Bishop had nothing to disclose.
Chairman Wakstein had nothing to disclose.

Mr. Daniel Voss, property owner of 109 Seaclusion Drive, presented his application

and request for variances. He stated the home under prior ownership had numerous code
enforcement violations and police department concerns. The home was constructed in
1989 with very limited storage space. He looked at the surrounding homes and contacted
two (2) companies that informed him that no permit was required for the shed. There is no

ability to move the shed due to the odd shape of the parcel, it is also located behind a 6’
fence.

The Board asked Mr. Voss specific questions about the property and offered alternative
locations for the shed.

Page 1 of 7
Minutes of the Planning Board

May 14, 2025



Mr. Voss stated that if moved, he still does not have room to meet the required setbacks
and would never be able to be at the rear of the home entirely. The adjacent neighbor has
no problem with the location.

Ms. Chester stated that an accessory must be setback 5’ from the principal structure. The
shed is in the best location and the parcel is irregularly shaped in the rear.

Chairman Wakstein called for affected parties, public comment, rebuttal, and closing
arguments. There were none. The application, staff report, and public comment were
added to the record and Board deliberation was opened. He stated there are two (2)
separate variances and can find affirmative on all criteria except not on the actions of
owner, it happened with development. He believes the applicant has a builder problem not
a code problem.

Mr. Morehouse and Mr. Coleman stated they felt that all eight (8) criteria had been met.

Mr. Coleman made a motion to approve both variance requests. It was seconded by Mr.
Morehouse.

Mr. Wittstruck Yes Mr. Coleman Yes Mr. Thomas Yes
Mr. Painter Yes Mr. Morehouse Yes Mr. Bishop Yes
Chairman Wakstein No

The motion to approve passed with a vote of (6-1).

ITEM NO. 6 RAWGP, LLC is requesting approval for a Small-Scale Plan
amendment to change the Future Land Use Map designation
from Mixed Use to Tourist and a Rezoning from PUD (Planned
Unit Development) to CM (Commercial- Medium Intensity). The
parcel is approximately 1.5 acres located at Panama City Beach
Parkway (Parcel: 35351-090-000), the nearest intersection is
Marlin Avenue and Panama City Beach Parkway.

Chairman Wakstein introduced the item and read aloud the proceedings for a quasi-
judicial hearing. All participants identified as affected parties were sworn in for testimony.
The application, public comment, and staff report were added to the record. Ms. Chester
acknowledged that all the requirements of the application notices were satisfied. Ms.
Deese was asked to call Jennings Act.

Mr. Wittstruck had nothing to disclose. Mr. Coleman had nothing to disclose.

Mr. Thomas visited the property and spoke with staff. Mr. Painter had nothing to
disclose. Mr. Morehouse visited the property. Mr. Bishop had nothing to disclose.
Chairman Wakstein spoke with staff.

Robert Carroll, McNeil and Carroll Engineering, Inc. and acting agent for the applicant
presented the application. He stated this summer will be 20 years since the initial
application for the La Borgata (Kelly Street) PUD was made. The PUD is comprised of
three (3) separate parcels with three (3) separate owners. This owner purchased the
property about a year and a half ago and would like to not be bound to the other parcels
for development and updates. The parcel does not meet the requirements to be its own
stand-alone PUD. The options are CL (Commercial- Low Intensity), CM (Commercial-
Medium Intensity), or CH (Commercial- High Intensity). There are currently five (5) CL
parcels that are located on Sundial Street. The owner would love to be zoned CH, but staff
noted concern about the proximity to residential property. There is a former PUD that was
rezoned to CM near Woodlawn Church. The major difference between CL and CM is
restaurant and drive through use. There are supplemental requirements in place and the
development cannot access through the neighborhood.

Chairman Wakstein asked if the applicant had a proposed use.
Mr. Carroll stated that it would most likely be a multi-tenant development.

Page 2 of 7
Minutes of the Planning Board

May 14, 2025



Ms. Chester provided the Board with the land uses for the proposed zoning designations
and stated there are supplemental requirements for uses that are added protection to
neighbors. The irregular shape of the parcel limits the use as well as the buffering is added
protection. Staff has no objection to the CM rezoning request.

The Board verified with Ms. Chester that supplemental requirements are approved

at staff level. The PUD will still fully function even with the removal of the parcel. The
majority of commercial zoned property along Panama City Beach Parkway is high density,
and the CL is in a residential area.

Chairman Wakstein called for adversely affected parties at this time.

Marilyn Whatley, 21517 Pompano Avenue, said the applicant knew what he could build
when he purchased the property. She does not want a restaurant due to odor and rats.
She believes that the applicant should be required to tell what he is developing.

Deborah Lowery, 21417 Marlin Avenue, advocated for the zoning to remain as is. She
voiced concern about noise, trash, rodents, and light. She urged the Board if they must
rezone to do so to CL, because this will protect the neighborhood as much as possible.

Chairman Wakstein called for public comment at this time, there was none. He called for
rebuttal.

Mr. Carroll stated the impervious ratio and buffer will remain the same, it’s just a matter of
what is put inside the box. Requirements of a restaurant are there can’t be seating within
100’ of residential, landscaping, and a solid-faced fence. The City has a lighting standard.
Panama City Beach Parkway has no CL and a handful of CM.

Mr. Wittstruck inquired how CM and PUD differ.

Mr. Carroll stated the Business and Professional for the PUD are office type uses only.
The shape of the parcel limits the uses, such as a service station that would not fit at this
location.

Ms. Chester reminded the Board that there are a few uses in the Land Use Table that
differentiate between CM and CL as well as supplemental standard requirements in the
Land Development Code (LDC).

Chairman Wakstein called for rebuttal by affected parties at this time.
Deborah Lowery, 21417 Marlin Avenue, asked the Board to consider if it was their home.

Chairman Wakstein concluded the evidentiary portion of the hearing. He called for closing
arguments, there were none. He opened Board deliberation.

Mr. Morehouse and Mr. Wittstruck both said they believed that CM fit.

Chairman Wakstein said he would only want CH if he was the developer and the site is
going to be a unique challenge.

Mr. Morehouse made a motion to make a recommendation to the City Council for
approval of the Small-Scale Plan Amendment request from Mixed Use to Tourist and the
Rezoning request from Planned Unit Development (PUD) to Commercial- Medium
Intensity (CM). It was seconded by Mr. Painter.

Mr. Wittstruck Yes Mr. Coleman No Mr. Thomas Yes

Mr. Painter Yes Mr. Morehouse Yes Mr. Bishop Yes
Chairman Wakstein Yes

The motion to approve passed with a vote of (6-1).

Page 3 of 7
Minutes of the Planning Board

May 14, 2025



ITEM NO. 7 PCVG, LLC is presenting a progress report for a previously
approved Large Site Development Master Plan. The proposed
development is approximately 33-acres on 12 contiguous parcels
located between Front Beach Road and Hutchison Boulevard
east of Churchwell Drive including the property located at 10400
Front Beach Road (Parcel: 34983-000-000).

Chairman Wakstein introduced the item and stated the time for use of the height variance
for the parking garage has lapsed. There is no longer a pathway to variances for building
height. The variance on height for amusements and the conditional use for amusement
have also expired, but there is a pathway back for both. This is a progress report and they
are not to hear about any proposed changes. The application, public comments, and staff
report were added to the record. He read aloud the proceedings for a quasi-judicial
hearing. All participants identified as affected parties were sworn in for testimony.

Ms. Chester acknowledged all the requirements of the application notices were satisfied.
Ms. Deese was asked to call Jennings Act.

Mr. Wittstruck had nothing to disclose. Mr. Coleman had nothing to disclose.

Mr. Thomas spoke with staff. Mr. Painter had nothing to disclose. Mr. Morehouse
had nothing to disclose. Mr. Bishop had nothing to disclose. Chairman Wakstein
spoke with staff.

Levi Wiegand, DAG Architects and acting agent for the applicant presented the progress
report. The proposed project is for a 1950s family zone. He discussed the renovations to
the Surf Style store and cleanouts, and the removal of an old restaurant. He discussed
surface parking and condos or short-term rentals. They would like to phase the
development. He questioned if they could continue with the large site development or if
there was a need to restart the process.

Chairman Wakstein inquired about a bridge connection shown in the package.

Mr. Wiegand the placement and alignment of the bridge may be different than proposed.
They are not increasing dwelling units and plan to abide by clearing of the outfall.

Ms. Chester stated the large conditional use for the amusement, the height for the parking
structure, and height for the amusement have all expired. The components of the

approved master plan is going to change, staff suggests the applicant submit for a large
site development.

Chairman Wakstein said the items discussed would be considered a substantial deviation

which would trip a hearing for a master plan modification. He called for affected parties at
this time.

Tom Trossen, 107 Heron Turn, stated the location has become a homeless campsite. The
Glade’s subdivision is supportive of the development and family activities. The
neighborhood is concerned about the spring break atmosphere. The Caballeros

townhomes are zoned CH and they believe this development will increase short term
rental activity.

Chairman Wakstein called for public comment at this time.

Crystal Rodriguez, 10519 Front Beach Road Twin Palms Resort, Spring Break thought
studies should be completed on demographics the development and its retailers will bring.
She did not believe that the proposed traffic patterns would be sufficient. She also voiced

concerns about the use of the two (2) public beach access that are located at Twin Palms
Resort.

Chairman Wakstein called for rebuttal at this time.

Mr. Wiegand stated a traffic analysis was previously completed and there have been
improvements since then. He discussed the design components, amusements, possible
height variances for the amusements, and surface parking.

Mr. Coleman confirmed with Mr. Wiegand the intent is to move forward with the project in

Page 4 of 7
Minutes of the Planning Board

May 14, 2025



a phased approach. He also inquired about the water cleanout.

Mr. Wiegand stated that they will clean their own shoreline during the initial phase of
development. Gathering permission to access neighboring shoreline can take time.

Chairman Wakstein concluded the evidentiary portion of the hearing. He called for closing
arguments, there were none. He opened Board deliberation.

Chairman Wakstein stated there were a lot of substantial deviations in the progress
report. He suggested the Board set a timeline for changes to be submitted.

Mr. Wittstruck suggested 12 months.

Mr. Wiegand responded to the Board that 12 months would be a sufficient timeline.

Mr. Coleman made a motion to require the applicant to submit a new Large Site
Development Master Plan within 12 months. It was seconded by Mr. Painter.

Mr. Wittstruck Yes Mr. Coleman Yes Mr. Thomas Yes
Mr. Painter Yes Mr. Morehouse Yes Mr. Bishop Yes
Chairman Wakstein Yes

The motion to approve passed with a vote of (7-0).

ITEM NO. 8 PUD Master Plan Invalidation Hearing: Terra Global Investments,
LLC has failed to complete a benchmark by the time specified in
the Master Plan timeline for the Kelly Street PUD located at 21761
Panama City Beach Parkway, approximately 2.68 acres on the
south side of Panama City Beach Parkway and east of Kelly
Street.

Chairman Wakstein introduced the item and read aloud the proceedings for a quasi-
judicial hearing. The staff report was added to the record (an application and public
comments were not submitted). All participants identified as affected parties were sworn in
for testimony. Ms. Chester acknowledged that all the requirements of the application
notices were satisfied. Ms. Deese was asked to call Jennings Act.

Mr. Wittstruck had nothing to disclose. Mr. Coleman had nothing to disclose.
Mr. Thomas spoke with staff. Mr. Painter visited the property. Mr. Morehouse
had nothing to disclose. Mr. Bishop had nothing to disclose. Chairman Wakstein
spoke with staff.

Ms. Chester stated the property owner was unresponsive and the mailings were returned.
She recommended leaving the parcel within the PUD as Business and Professional.

Chairman Wakstein called for adversely affected parties, public comment, rebuttal, and
closing arguments at this time, there was none. Board deliberation was opened.

Mr. Coleman asked how to remove the parcel from the PUD and if it was the most
restrictive zoning.

Ms. Chester responded the parcel would require a rezoning to be removed from PUD,
which is currently the most restrictive zoning.

Chairman Wakstein thought the zoning should be left alone.

Mr. Davis recommended that the Board allow no development until a progress report is
given.

Page 5 of 7
Minutes of the Planning Board

May 14, 2025



